# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGORD EDT Transaction ID 70260646

#### **DOCKET NO. 23-192**

#### JUDITH A. SHEARS and GARY F. SHEARS, JR., PETITIONERS

v.

# PETITIONERS' BRIEF

On Certified Question from the United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit Case No. 22-1399

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONERS JUDITH A. SHEARS and GARY F. SHEARS, JR.,

Scott S. Segal, Esq. (WV Bar #4717) Jason P. Foster, Esq. (WV Bar #10593) C. Edward Amos, II, Esq. (WV Bar #12362) THE SEGAL LAW FIRM A Legal Corporation

810 Kanawha Boulevard, East Charleston, West Virginia 25301 Telephone: (304) 344-9100

Facsimile: (304) 344-9105

E-mail: scott.segal@segal-law.com jason.foster@segal-law.com

#### **I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

While Rule W. Va. R. App. Pro. 10(c)(3) requires the Petitioners' Brief to include a section entitled "Assignments of Error," the present matter is before the Court on a certified question from the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit. In its Order of Certification to the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia (the "Certification Order"), the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit framed the certified question (the "Certified Question") as follows:

Whether Section 411 of the West Virginia Pattern Jury Instructions for Civil Cases, entitled "Design Defect — Necessity of an Alternative, Feasible Design," correctly specifies the plaintiff's burden of proof for a strict liability design defect claim pursued under West Virginia law.

More specifically, whether a plaintiff alleging a West Virginia strict liability design defect claim is required to prove the existence of an alternative, feasible product design — existing at the time of the subject product's manufacture — in order to establish that the product was not reasonably safe for its intended use. And if so, whether the alternative, feasible product design must eliminate the risk of the harm suffered by the plaintiff, or whether a reduction of that risk is sufficient.

Shears v. Ethicon, Inc., 64 F.4th 556, 558 (4th Cir. 2023). The U.S. Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit did not propose an answer to the Certified Question. Therefore, there are technically no assignments of error in this case. As such, unless this Court directs otherwise, Petitioners will treat the Certified Question as a "Question Presented." For the reasons discussed in detail below, Petitioners respectfully request that this Court answer the Certified Question in the **NEGATIVE**.

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Statement of Relevant Facts

#### 1. Ethicon's TVT Mesh

This is a product liability action concerning a surgical medical device known as TVT transvaginal mesh ("TVT"). The TVT is made of synthetic polypropylene "mesh" that is surgically implanted underneath a woman's urethra to treat stress urinary incontinence ("SUI")—a condition

in which a woman leaks urine during moments of physical activity that increase abdominal pressure, such as laughing, sneezing, or coughing. See Petitioners' "Brief of Appellants" filed in the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit, Case No. 22-1399 (the "Petitioners' Fourth Circuit Brief"), at pp. 2-3. Ethicon manufactured, marketed, and sold the TVT. Ethicon is a wholly owned subsidiary of Respondent Johnson & Johnson. *Id.*, at p. 3.

The Shears presented the following evidence to the jury regarding design flaws associated with the TVT: (1) it is heavy in weight; (2) it has small pores; (3) it produces an intense and chronic inflammatory response; and (4) it is made of polypropylene—a material known to degrade when implanted in the human body. *Id.* These defects caused the mesh to erode resulting in a number of injuries, including those suffered by Judith Shears. *Id.* 

An erosion means that the TVT mesh itself has become exposed to other internal organs adjacent to where the mesh is placed, including the urethra, the vagina, or—in this case—the bladder. *Id.* When an erosion occurs, it can cause the patient to experience chronic pain, dyspareunia (pain with intercourse), bladder infections, overactive bladder, and the formation of bladder stones. *Id.* 

#### 2. Judith Shears' Relevant Medical History

Beginning in October 2008, Mrs. Shears presented to her primary care physician with complaints of SUI, intermittent constipation, and a bulging feeling of her uterus which produced some pain with intercourse. *Id.* Shortly thereafter, Mrs. Shears was referred to a urogynecologist, Dr. Eddie H.M. Sze for evaluation. *Id.*, at p. 4. Dr. Sze noted that Mrs. Shears' incontinence was "progressively worsening" and that she had a significant degree of uterine prolapse. *Id.* Dr. Sze's treatment plan included a posterior repair (surgical correction of the uterine prolapse) and the placement of a TVT mesh sling to treat her SUI. *Id.* 

On March 16, 2009, Mrs. Shears underwent surgery at West Virginia University Hospital, where Dr. Sze performed the posterior repair and implanted the TVT mesh. *Id.* Initially, Mrs. Shears felt somewhat better—her complaints of leaking, bulging, discomfort, and pain with intercourse due to the uterine prolapse had resolved. *Id.* But, Mrs. Shears returned to Dr. Sze's office in April, 2012 with new reports of urgency, frequency, and incontinence. *Id.* 

In September, 2013, Mrs. Shears made an appointment to see Dr. Stanley Zaslau after experiencing continued complaints of recurrent urinary tract infections, pelvic pain, frequent urination, burning with urination, leaking urine, and dyspareunia (the medical term for painful sex). *Id.* These symptoms were incredibly painful for Mrs. Shears. She described the pain as "sharp" and "stabbing." Worse, she testified that "she couldn't even sit flat" without experiencing intense pain. *Id.* 

On October 29, 2013, Mrs. Shears underwent a revision procedure performed by Dr. Zaslau, which included the surgical removal or excision of eroded TVT mesh, urethrolysis, and the surgical removal of a bladder stone. *Id.*, at p. 5. For the first time, Mrs. Shears began to feel relief from the pain. *Id.* However, following this procedure, in February 2014, Dr. Zaslau performed a cystoscopy which revealed more eroded mesh in the bladder. *Id.* 

Unfortunately, the abdominal and bladder pain, incontinence/leaking urine, and recurrent bladder infections returned. *Id.* In addition to those symptoms, Mrs. Shears developed new problems as well, including incomplete bladder emptying, dysuria, and frequency. *Id.* Due to her difficulty voiding, Dr. Zaslau planned to perform a cystoscopy in order to see what, if anything, was obstructing her bladder. *Id.* The cystoscopy, revealed two large stones in Mrs. Shears' bladder and that the TVT was obstructing her bladder outlet. *Id.* 

On June 25, 2021, Mrs. Shears underwent a second revision surgery performed by Dr. Zaslau which included the removal of the two bladder stones. *Id.* Dr. Zaslau told Mrs. Shears that "because she had a history of extruded mesh, [the mesh] was the leading cause of her recurrent bladder stones." *Id.* 

#### B. Relevant Procedural History

#### 1. The Multi-District Litigation

On June 28, 2013, this case was directly filed by Short Form Complaint in the Ethicon multi-district litigation consolidated before the Honorable Joseph R. Goodwin in the United States District Court for the Southern District of West Virginia. (JA 48-53); *In re: Ethicon, Inc. Pelvic Repair Sys. Prods. Liab. Litig.*, MDL No. 2327 (S.D. W. Va.) (hereinafter referred to as the "MDL"). The MDL was formed as a result of the use of transvaginal surgical mesh to treat two pelvic conditions that occur in women: SUI and pelvic organ prolapse ("POP"). Among all cases, the claims against Ethicon were the same: design defect, failure to warn, negligence, breach of express warranty, breach of implied warranty, and punitive damages. *Id.* 

#### 2. The Mullins Consolidation

On July 1, 2015, the MDL Judge consolidated thirty-seven (37) cases for trial, including the Shears' case. This consolidation was referred to as the *Mullins* consolidation. *See Mullins*, *et al.*, v. *Ethicon, Inc.*, *et al.*, No. 2:12-cv-02952 (S.D. W. Va.). The *Mullins* consolidation was made up of thirty-seven (37) plaintiffs all implanted with the same product—Ethicon's TVT, a product manufactured and designed by Ethicon to treat SUI. The MDL Judge consolidated the aforementioned cases for trial on the negligence and strict liability design defect claims.

#### 3. Remand to the Northern District of West Virginia

On November 20, 2020, the MDL Judge entered a Transfer Order, remanding nine (9) cases for trial in the venues from which they arose, including the Shears' case. On March 3, 2021, the District Court entered a Scheduling Order, setting a ten (10) day jury trial to commence on March 7, 2022.

# 4. The District Court grants Ethicon summary judgment on the Shears' strict product liability design defect claim

On February 11, 2022, the District Court held a *Daubert* hearing to enter rulings on outstanding *Daubert* issues left undecided by the MDL Judge. JA 43-83. Before any argument was made on the *Daubert* issues, the District Court *sua sponte* requested oral argument on Petitioners' strict product liability design defect claim—specifically, "the requirement under West Virginia products liability law, as found by Judge Goodwin and as established in the pattern jury instructions, that the alternative feasible design must eliminate the risk of which the plaintiff complains that caused the injuries." *Id.*, at 45-46. Following extensive argument on the issue, the District Court ultimately found that the 'elimination of risk' standard was "the standard under West Virginia law and the pattern jury instructions." *Id.*, at 58. The District Court then noted that all of the opinions offered by the Shears' design expert were couched in terms of "reduction" of the risk as opposed to "elimination." *Id.*, at 78-80. After analyzing the Shears' "reduction of the risk" evidence against the erroneous "elimination of the risk" standard, the District Court excluded the expert opinions underpinning the Shears' strict product liability claim, thereby effectively granting summary judgment to Ethicon on said claim. *Id.*, at 78-80 and 83-86.

#### 5. The jury returns a defense verdict

On March 16, 2022, the jury returned its verdict in favor of Ethicon. The first question on the verdict form read as follows: "Did the Plaintiffs prove, by a greater weight of the evidence, that the Defendants negligently designed the TVT?" The jury answered "No."

#### 6. The Appeal

The Petitioners filed their Notice of Appeal on April 12, 2022. After the briefing was completed, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit heard oral argument on January 24, 2023. The U.S. Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit entered the Certification Order on April 5, 2023.

#### **III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

There are essentially three approaches throughout the United States to the evidentiary requirements associated with a design defect-based strict product liability test: (1) the "Consumer Expectations Approach"; (2) the Risk-Utility Approach; and (3) some combination of the two (the "Hybrid Approach"). The Consumer Expectation Approach neither requires nor even mentions the existence of an alternative design as a requirement to prove a design defect-based strict liability claim. The Risk Utility Approach lists the existence of a safer alternative design as one factor to be considered in determining whether or not a product is defective. Lastly, the Hybrid Approach permits, but does not require, a plaintiff to present evidence of a safer alternative design to prove that a product is defective. Critically, no jurisdiction in the entire United States, regardless of approach, requires a plaintiff to prove the existence of a feasible alternative design that would "eliminate the risk of harm."

In the seminal product liability opinion of *Morningstar v. Black & Decker Mfg. Co.*, 162 W. Va. 857, 253 S.E.2d 666 (1979), this Court unequivocally held that West Virginia courts

subscribe to the Hybrid Approach. Respondents have offered no reason for this Court to reject *Morningstar* and adopt an evidentiary standard so extreme that <u>not one other State</u> has seen fit to adopt it through either legislation or judicial opinion.

For these reasons, as explained in detail below, Petitioners respectfully request that the Court reaffirm West Virginia's adherence to *Morningstar*, and expressly reject W. Va. Pattern Jury Instruction § 411 in its entirety. Simply stated, W. Va. Pattern Jury Instruction § 411 has **NEVER** been the law in West Virginia and **NEVER** should be.

#### IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Oral argument is necessary pursuant to the criteria set forth in W. Va. R. App. Pro. 18(a). Accordingly, this case should be set for oral argument under W. Va. R. App. Pro. 20(a) because it involves issues of fundamental public importance.

#### V. ARGUMENT

Under longstanding West Virginia law, a plaintiff has never been required to present evidence of an alternative feasible design to prevail on a design-defect based strict product liability claim. Nor has a plaintiff ever been required to prove that such alternative design would "eliminate the risk of injury" (the "Elimination Mandate"). W. Va. Pattern Jury Instruction § 411 did not change the law in West Virginia as the content of that Pattern Jury Instruction has not been codified by the W. Va. Legislature. Nor has W. Va. PJI § 411 appeared as a Syllabus Point in any opinion authored by this Court. Moreover, the W. Va. Pattern Jury Instructions have never been adopted by this Court through the administrative process. Instead, this Court's seminal product liability opinion in *Morningstar v. Black & Decker Mfg. Co.*, 162 W. Va. 857, 253 S.E.2d 666 (1979), is and remains the controlling law in West Virginia.

For the reasons discussed in detail below, Petitioners respectfully request that this Court answer the Certified Question in the **NEGATIVE**. First, W. Va. PJI § 411 has never been the law in West Virginia. *Morningstar*, *supra*, is the controlling legal standard regarding the evidentiary standards associated with a design defect-based strict product liability claim. W. Va. PJI § 411, on the other hand, finds no legal support anywhere in West Virginia law.

Second, under *Morningstar*, a plaintiff need only to show that a product is not reasonably safe for its intended purpose to prevail on a design defect-based strict product liability claim. A requirement to prove the existence of an alternative, feasible design places a greater burden of proof on a plaintiff than what is required by West Virginia law. Furthermore, this Court has expressly rejected the Elimination Mandate. Lastly, adoption of the Elimination Mandate would not only place West Virginia in the minority, it would make West Virginia the **only** state in the Union with such a Draconian requirement!

#### A. Jurisdiction

The U.S. Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit submitted the Certified Question to this Court pursuant to W. Va. Code § 51-1A-1, et. seq., the "Uniform Certification of Questions of Law Act" (the "Act"). Pursuant to the Act:

The Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia may answer a question of law certified to it by any court of the United States or by the highest appellate court or the intermediate appellate court of another state or of a tribe or of Canada, a Canadian province or territory, Mexico or a Mexican state, if the answer may be determinative of an issue in a pending cause in the certifying court and if there is no controlling appellate decision, constitutional provision or statute of this State.

W. Va. Code § 51-1A-3.

#### B. Standard of Review

"From the language of W.Va. Code, 51-1A-1, together with the conventional construction placed by other courts on similar certification statutes, this Court, in answering a certified question,

must of necessity determine the present law bearing on the issue certified." Syl. Pt. 1, *Morningstar*, 162 W. Va. 857.

"A de novo standard is applied by this Court in addressing the legal issues presented by a certified question from a federal district or appellate court." Syl. Pt. 1, *Light v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 203 W. Va. 27, 506 S.E.2d 64 (1998).

- C. The Court should answer the Certified Question in the negative and explicitly hold that West Virginia continues to adhere to *Morningstar* and does <u>not</u> require proof of an alternative feasible design in order to prevail on a design defect-based strict product liability claim.
  - 1. W. Va. PJI § 411 has NEVER been the law in West Virginia.

When addressing a certified question, this Court must first determine the present state of the law bearing on the question. The following sections conclusively demonstrate that (1) *Morningstar* controls; and (2) W. Va. PJI § 411 is not and has never been the law in West Virginia.

i. *Morningstar* is the present state of the law bearing on the issue certified.

This Court directly addressed the evidentiary basis for a strict product liability claim based on design defect in the seminal case of *Morningstar v. Black & Decker Mfg. Co.*, 162 W. Va. 857, 253 S.E.2d 666 (1979). In that case, this Court held that:

In this jurisdiction the general test for establishing strict liability in tort is whether the involved product is defective in the sense that it is not reasonably safe for its intended use. The standard of reasonable safeness is determined not by the particular manufacturer, but by what a reasonably prudent manufacturer's standards should have been at the time the product was made.

Id. at Syl. Pt. 4 (emphasis added). This Court further held that:

The term "unsafe" imparts a standard that the product is to be tested by what the reasonably prudent manufacturer would accomplish in regard to the safety of the product, having in mind the general state of the art of the manufacturing

process, including design, labels and warnings, as it relates to economic costs, at the time the product was made.

Id. at Syl. Pt. 5 (emphasis added). This Court went on to explain that:

... a defective product may fall into three broad, and not necessarily mutually exclusive, categories: design defectiveness; structural defectiveness; and use defectiveness arising out of the lack of, or the inadequacy of, warnings, instructions and labels.

Characteristically, under the first two categories of defectiveness the inquiry centers on the physical condition of the product which renders it unsafe when the product is used in a reasonably intended manner. In the third category of defectiveness the focus is not so much on a flawed physical condition of the product, as on its unsafeness arising out of the failure to adequately label, instruct or warn.

Morningstar, 162 W. Va. 888 (emphasis added).

As recently as 2018, this Court has reaffirmed the continuing vitality of *Morningstar*. Specifically, in *McNair v. Johnson & Johnson*, 241 W. Va. 26, 818 S.E.2d 852 (2018), on a certified question from the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit, this Court explained:

In Morningstar, our modern seminal case on products liability, this Court found that "[o]nce it can be shown that the product was defective when it left the manufacturer and that the defect proximately caused the plaintiff's injury, a recovery is warranted absent some conduct on the part of the plaintiff that may bar his recovery." 162 W.Va. at 883, 253 S.E.2d at 680; see also Dunn, 194 W.Va. at 46, 459 S.E.2d at 157 ("Product liability law in this State permits a plaintiff to recover where the plaintiff can prove a product was defective when it left the manufacturer and the defective product was the proximate cause of the plaintiff's injuries." (citation omitted)).

McNair, at 34 (emphasis added). Thus, as recently as 2018, this Court has reaffirmed that Morningstar remains the modern seminal case in products liability.

Historically, the United States District Courts in West Virginia have faithfully adhered to these legal tenets. For example, in *Keffer v. Wyeth*, 791 F. Supp. 2d 539 (S.D.W. Va. 2011), a product liability claim involving hormone replacement therapy medications, the defendant sought summary judgment on the plaintiff's strict liability design defect claim to the extent that the claim

was based on the existence of a safer alternative design. *Id.* at 547. The plaintiff countered by arguing that proof of a safter alternative design was not required to establish a design defect claim under West Virginia law and, in any event, the plaintiff had come forward with a safer alternative. *Id.* 

In response to these arguments, U.S. District Court Judge John T. Copenhaver, Jr., correctly observed as follows:

West Virginia's strict products liability doctrine has its origin in *Morningstar v. Black and Decker Manufacturing Co.*, 162 W. Va. 857, 253 S.E.2d 666 (W. Va. 1979). Syllabus Point 4 of Morningstar provides as follows:

In this jurisdiction the general test for establishing strict liability in tort is whether the involved product is defective in the sense that it is not reasonably safe for its intended use. The standard of reasonable safeness is determined not by the particular manufacturer, but by what a reasonably prudent manufacturer's standards should have been at the time the product was made.

Id., at Syl. Pt. 4. Generally speaking, "[o]nce it can be shown that the product was defective when it left the manufacturer and that the defect proximately caused the plaintiff's injury, a recovery is warranted." Id. at 680. "[A] defective product may fall into three broad, and not necessarily mutually exclusive, categories: design defectiveness; structural defectiveness; and use defectiveness arising out of the lack of, or the inadequacy of, warnings, instructions and labels." Id. at 682.

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