SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

SCA EFiled: Jul 26 2023

03:51PM EDT

Transaction ID 70491609

Judith A. Shears and Gary F. Shears, Jr.,

Petitioners,a

v. Docket No. 23-192

Ethicon, Inc. and Johnson & Johnson,

Respondents.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS ETHICON, INC. AND JOHNSON & JOHNSON

On Certified Question from the United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit Case No. 22-1399

Natalie R. Atkinson (WV Bar # 12030) Philip J. Combs (WV Bar # 6056) THOMAS COMBS & SPANN, PLLC 300 Summers Street, Suite 1300 Charleston, WV 25301 (304) 414-1835

Amy M. Pepke BUTLER SNOW LLP 6075 Poplar Avenue Suite 500 Memphis, TN 38119 (901) 680-7324

Counsel for Respondents

This case comes before the Court on certified question from the United States

Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit. This Court has been asked to answer this

question:

Whether Section 411 of the West Virginia Pattern Jury Instructions for Civil Cases, entitled "Design Defect — Necessity of an Alternative, Feasible Design," correctly specifies the plaintiff's burden of proof for a strict liability design defect claim pursued under West Virginia law.

More specifically, whether a plaintiff alleging a West Virginia strict liability design defect claim is required to prove the existence of an alternative, feasible product design — existing at the time of the subject product's manufacture — in order to establish that the product was not reasonably safe for its intended use. And if so, whether the alternative, feasible product design must eliminate the risk of the harm suffered by the plaintiff, or whether a reduction of that risk is sufficient.

Shears v. Ethicon, Inc., 64 F.4th 556, 558 (4th Cir. 2023).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Procedural history.

Petitioner Judith Shears and her husband Gary Shears ("Petitioners") sued Ethicon, Inc. and Johnson & Johnson (collectively "Ethicon") on July 12, 2013. They filed their complaint in the Ethicon pelvic mesh MDL pending in the Southern District of West Virginia ("the MDL Court"), where it was consolidated with thirty-six other cases involving West Virginia plaintiffs alleging injuries caused by

Ethicon's TVT mid-urethral sling. See Mullins et al. v. Ethicon, Inc. et al., Case No. 2:12-cv-02952 (S.D. W. Va.).

Petitioners sought to hold Ethicon strictly liable for alleged design defects in the TVT, among other claims. Early in the proceedings, the MDL Court was asked to clarify the parameters of a strict liability–design defect claim under West Virginia law, or, if necessary, predict how this Court would rule. *See Corder v. Antero Res. Corp.*, 57 F.4th 384, 392 (4th Cir. 2023) (In cases falling under federal diversity jurisdiction, a federal court applies state law to settled issues and "if necessary, predict[s] how the state's highest court would rule on an unsettled issue.").

The MDL Court initially predicted this Court would not require proof of a safer alternative design as a *prima facie* element of a strict liability–design defect claim, though such evidence was "certainly relevant" in determining whether a product is unsafe. *Mullins v. Ethicon Inc.*, 117 F. Supp. 3d 810, 821 (S.D.W. Va. 2015) (citing *Morningstar v. Black & Decker Manf. Co.*, Syl. Pt. 5, 162 W. Va. 857, 253 S.E.2d 666 (1979)).

The MDL Court reconsidered this ruling after this Court, in June 2016, published its West Virginia Pattern Jury Instructions for Civil Cases ("PJI"). The MDL Court's ruling was premised in part on PJI § 411, which states:

¹ The *Shears* case was one of more than 28,000 cases pending at one time in the Ethicon pelvic mesh MDL.

§ 411 Design Defect–Necessity of an Alternative, Feasible Design

There are many designs which, although they may eliminate a particular risk, are not practicable to produce. To prove that a design is defective, [name of plaintiff] must prove that there was an alternative, feasible design that eliminated the risk that injured [him/her].

West Virginia PJI § 411. Based on its thorough review of West Virginia case law and the PJI, the MDL Court's "inescapable conclusion" was that § 411 accurately reflects West Virginia law. *Mullins v. Ethicon, Inc.*, No. 2:12-cv-02952, 2016 WL 7197441, at *5 (S.D.W. Va. Dec. 9, 2016).

The MDL Court also gave deference to the fact that the instructions were reviewed, edited, and approved by two West Virginia judges (Justice Ketchum, at the time, a seated justice on this Court, and Judge Alsop, a Circuit Judge). The MDL Court held that a West Virginia strict liability—design defect claim requires proof of "an alternative, feasible design" that "eliminate[s] the risk that injured the plaintiff." *Mullins*, 2016 WL 7197441, at *5.

On November 20, 2020, Plaintiffs' case was remanded to the United States District Court for the Northern District of West Virginia ("District Court"). The District Court promptly set Petitioners' surviving design defect and negligence claims for trial. On February 11, 2022, at a hearing on Ethicon's unresolved *Daubert* motions, the District Court granted Ethicon's motion to exclude the testimony of Dr. Uwe Klinge, Petitioners' materials expert, because he did not testify that his

proposed alternative designs would eliminate the risk of Ms. Shears' injury. *See* JA079–81 (hearing transcript); JA085–87 (Order following *Daubert* hearing).

Importantly, the District Court did not grant "summary judgment" on Petitioners' design defect claim. Recognizing there can be more than one way to prove defective design in certain cases, Petitioners merely pivoted to a theory of product malfunction. The District Court allowed the claim to proceed to trial but granted judgment as a matter of law on the strict liability—design defect claim at the end of Petitioners' case in chief. Petitioners proceeded to the jury on their remaining claim for negligent design defect. On March 16, 2022, the jury returned a defense verdict.

Petitioners timely noticed their appeal to the United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit. They raised three assignments of error, only one of which is relevant to the certified question now presented for review: whether the District Court was correct in adopting West Virginia PJI § 411 and requiring Petitioners to identify an alternative design that eliminated the risk of injury.

Upon completion of briefing, the Fourth Circuit held oral argument on January 24, 2023. On April 5, 2023, the Fourth Circuit entered an order certifying the question now presented for review.

This Court entered a briefing order on April 26, 2023. Petitioners filed their opening brief on June 26, 2023 ("Petitioners' Br.").

II. Factual background.

a. Ethicon's TVT

Ethicon's TVT ("Tension-Free Vaginal Tape") has been marketed since 1998 and has a proven record of safety and efficacy. The TVT sling is the most studied anti-incontinence device and surgical option for treating stress urinary incontinence ("SUI") in the world, with hundreds of randomized, controlled trials and cohort studies with up to 17 years follow-up supporting its continued use. Ethicon continues to market the TVT today, more than 24 years after its introduction to the U.S. market. The evidence produced at trial from both parties' experts established that midurethral slings, like the TVT sling used to treat Ms. Shears' SUI, are considered the gold standard for treatment of SUI and are recommended for use by the surgical organizations that treat women's incontinence. *See* JA 1163–66 in *Shears v. Ethicon, Inc.*, ECF No. 18 (4th Cir. Case No. 22-1399) ("Fourth Circuit JA") (Position Statement on Mesh Midurethral Slings for Stress Incontinence (2013)).

b. Ms. Shears' medical history

On March 16, 2009, Ms. Shears was implanted with Ethicon's TVT device for the treatment of SUI. Fourth Circuit JA 201, 5585. Three years later, in April 2012, Ms. Shears reported complaints of urinary tract infections ("UTIs") and painful urination. *Id.* at 525. In September 2013, she saw a urologist for these complaints. *Id.* at 532. A CT exam revealed a bladder stone attached to a small piece

of TVT mesh that had eroded into the bladder tissue. *Id.* at 536. Ms. Shears underwent surgery to remove the bladder stone and the mesh fibers attached to it. *Id.* at 537. The surgery was successful and there is no evidence of further bladder erosion in Ms. Shears. *Id.* at 6450–51.

Mesh erosion into the bladder is a rare but well-known complication that happens in less than 1 percent of patients. Fourth Circuit JA 6252. Mesh can be inadvertently placed in the bladder after undetected perforation of the bladder at the time of surgery. *Id.* at 6249–50. Bladder erosion can also occur when the TVT is placed by the implanting surgeon within the muscularis of the bladder. *Id.* at 6250–51. Bladder erosion is not a complication unique to TVT. Erosion is a known risk of every bladder surgery that uses mesh (whether Ethicon's mesh or any other mesh) and it is a recognized risk of non-mesh surgeries where sutures and other permanent grafts are used. *Id.* at 6420–21, 6458–59.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Court should answer the certified question in the affirmative. Specifically, the Court should hold that proof of a feasible, alternative product design existing at the time the allegedly defective product was manufactured is a *prima facie* element of a West Virginia strict liability-design defect claim. The Court should further hold that the alternative design proffered by the plaintiff must eliminate the risk of harm suffered by the plaintiff.

West Virginia uses a risk-utility test to evaluate product defectiveness in design defect cases. *Morningstar*, 162 W. Va. 857, 253 S.E.2d 666 at Syl. Pts. 4, 5. And although *Morningstar* does not make this point explicit, defining "reasonable safeness" by "what a reasonably prudent manufacturer's standards *should have been*" can only be construed as requiring proof of a safer alternative design. *Id.* at Syl. Pt. 4. This Court's later decision in *Church v. Wesson* recognizes this requirement, as does the Fourth Circuit's opinion in *Nease v. Ford Motor Company*, as does the Third Restatement of Torts.

The alternative design requirement is the very essence of design defect liability. A jury simply cannot determine whether a manufacturer's design specifications create unreasonable risks without reference to a standard *outside* those specifications. And allowing recovery without proof of an alternative design is untenable; it effectively transforms *strict* liability into *absolute* liability. The requirement of an alternative design is widely accepted. Indeed, in the decades since *Morningstar*, all other states within the Fourth Circuit have recognized alternative design as a vital element of a design defect claim. The Restatement (Third), which this Court has cited favorably in other cases, propounds this requirement as well.

As for whether the alternative design must eliminate or merely reduce the risk of injury suffered by the plaintiff, elimination is the better rule. "Elimination of the risk" is consistent with this Court's prior jurisprudence in the negligence context and

ensures a causal relationship between the manufacturer's allegedly deficient design and the proposed alternative. It is also the rule of several other jurisdictions that require the alternative design to avoid or prevent—not reduce—the plaintiff's harm.

Petitioners support their arguments on design defect liability with a fifty-state survey created by their counsel. But their survey inaccurately represents design defect jurisprudence in this country and should not be relied on. Most jurisdictions use risk-utility balancing to determine liability for defective design, and of these, most recognize evidence on alternative design as the central feature of the analysis.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

This case should be selected for Rule 20 argument because it involves an important issue that the Fourth Circuit has asked this Court to address: whether a West Virginia strict liability–design defect claim requires proof of an alternative, feasible product design that would eliminate the risk of injury suffered by the plaintiff. W. Va. R. App. P. 20(a).

ARGUMENT

- I. The Requirement of a Safer Alternative Design is an Essential Element of a Strict Liability-Design Defect Claim under Existing West Virginia Law.
 - a. Morningstar endorsed a risk-utility test as the primary means of proving a design defect in West Virginia.

A product is defective if "it is not reasonably safe for its intended use." Morningstar, 162 W. Va. at 888, 253 S.E.2d at 683. "[A] defective product may fall into three broad, not necessarily mutually exclusive, categories: design defectiveness; structural defectiveness; and use of defectiveness arising out of the lack of, or the inadequacy of, warnings, instructions and labels." *Id.* at 888, 682.

Whether a product's design is "not reasonably safe for its intended use" has traditionally been determined through resort to one of two methods of proof: the risk-utility test and the consumer expectations test. See Mullins v. Ethicon, Inc, 117 F. Sup. 3d 810, 815; Branham v. Ford Motor Co., 701 S.E.2d 5, 14 (S.C. 2010). Under the consumer expectations test, a product is unsafe if it fails to perform to the expectations of an ordinary consumer. Mullins, 117 F. Supp. d3d at 815; see also Restatement (Second) of Torts § 402A; Lloyd v. Gen. Motors Corp., 275 F.R.D. 224, 228 (D. Md. 2011). The risk-utility test, on the other hand, balances product risk against utility. See Morningstar, 162 W. Va. at 885–87, 253 S.E.2d at 681–82. Folded into this balancing is a seven-factor test that considers the desirability of the product, the severity of the risk it poses, and the manufacturer's ability to avoid the unsafe character of the product without impairing product utility, among other things. See Morningstar, 162 W. Va. at 886, 253 S.E.2d at 681 n.20 (describing factors).

West Virginia has unambiguously adopted a risk-utility test for determining product defectiveness. In *Morningstar v. Black & Decker Manufacturing Co.*, this

Court pronounced the risk-utility test that governs West Virginia strict liability claims for design defect:

The standard of reasonable safeness is determined not by the particular manufacturer, but by what a reasonably prudent manufacturer's standards should have been at the time the product was made.

The term "unsafe" imparts a standard that the product is to be tested by what the reasonably prudent manufacturer would accomplish in regard to the safety of the product, having in mind the general state of the art of the manufacturing process, including design, labels and warnings, as it relates to economic costs, at the time the product was made.

Syl. Pts. 4, 5, 162 W. Va. at 857, 253 S.E.2d at 667. Since *Morningstar*, the risk-utility test has been universally accepted as the test to prove design defect in a strict liability action under West Virginia law. *See Mullins*, 117 F. Supp.3d at 821 (*Morningstar* "craft[ed] . . . a coherent risk-utility test that applies to all products"); *Keffer v. Wyeth*, 791 F. Supp.2d 539, 547 (S.D.W. Va. 2011) (noting standard of reasonable safeness); *Knight v. Boehringer Ingelheim Pharm.*, *Inc.*, 323 F. Supp. 3d 809, 833 (S.D.W. Va. 2018) (same); *see also Shears*, 64 F.4th at 565 (noting that *Morningstar*'s adoption of a risk-utility test).

Morningstar does not endorse, and West Virginia law does not support, use of the consumer expectations analysis in design defect cases. To the contrary, Morningstar expressed reservations about the consumer expectations test when it adopted the risk-utility test. 162 W. Va. at 884–86, 253 S.E.2d at 681–82 (noting concerns with aspects of Restatement (Second)). Other West Virginia courts have

similarly rejected the consumer expectations approach. *See Mullins*, 117 F. Supp.3d at 816–17. The risk-utility test, with its requirement of a safer alternative design, is the only test used in West Virginia.²

b. The requirement of a feasible alternative design is at the heart of the risk-utility test and the only reasonable reading of *Morningstar*.

Morningstar's risk-utility test is an objective one. Thus, the manufacturer's design "is . . . tested by what the reasonably prudent manufacturer would accomplish in regard to the safety of the product, having in mind the general state of the art of the manufacturing process, including design, labels and warnings, as it relates to economic costs, at the time the product was made." Morningstar at Syl. Pt. 5; see also id. at Syl. Pt. 4 (defectiveness is determined by "what a reasonably prudent manufacturer's standards should have been at the time" of manufacture). Determining "what the reasonably prudent manufacturer would accomplish" and what the manufacturer's standard "should have been" requires reference to some

_

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